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1. Presentation of the Group 
 

The Trawell Co Group (henceforth also the “Group”) is a multinational company with operates in the airport 
retail market; the latter currently includes almost 4 billion travellers across the world and is constantly 
increasing, net of the “Covid-19” emergency period. 

The market for luggage protection is a niche within the more extensive airport retail market. 
Implementation of the service is concentrated within the landside area, prior to check-in, given that it 
targets passengers who must check in their bags prior to departure. 

Founded in 1997 by Rudolph Gentile, a manager of extensive experience in the airline industry, Trawell Co 
S.p.A. (hereinafter also "Trawell Co", "Company", or "Parent Company") is a pioneer in the baggage 
wrapping service. 

The Trawell Co Group is currently the global leader and reference model for all companies of the sector, 
both in terms of quality of the service as well as innovation. The strategic vision – along with the significant 
investments in technology, infrastructures and training – have allowed the company to rapidly and 
significantly increase its presence in primary global airports as well as the quality standards of the service 
and the professionalism of its personnel. 

In the near future, Trawell Co S.p.A. continue to invest in innovation and development with the aim of 
expanding and further consolidating its leadership in the sector. 

 

International oversight   

During the first half of 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. operated in 137 sales points located in 39 airports. 

 

 

 

 

Of the 39 airports, 19 are in Europe (of which five in Italy), 15 in Asia and five in America. 
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The airports in which the Group has operated during the first half of 2022 are listed below: 

 EUROPE (19 airports) 

o Italy (through Trawell Co S.p.A.) – Venezia, Bologna, Olbia, Cagliari, Roma; 

o France (through FSB Service Sarl) - Nice, Lyon, Marseille, Toulouse and Bordeaux; 

o Portugal (through Flysafeb Unipessoal Lda) - Lisbon, Porto, Faro, Ponta Delgada and Madeira; 

o Switzerland (through Safe Bag Sagl) - Geneva and Zurich; 

o Greece (through Care4Bag) – Athens; 

o Estonia (through Pack & Fly Group OU) - Tallinn; 

o Czech Republic (through Safe Bag Czech Republic S.r.o.) - Prague 

 ASIA (15 airports) 

o Russia (through Wrapping Service LLC and Fly Pack LLC) – Sheremetyevo, Sochi, Krasnodar, 
Kazan, Anapa, Naberezhniye Chelni, Murmansk (until February 2022), Ufa, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk, 
Vladivostok, Krasnoyarsk, Orenburg (until May 2022) , Yakutsk, Surgut; 

o Kyrgyzstan (through Pack&Fly Group OU) – Bishkek 

 AMERICA (5 airports) 

o The United States (through Safe Bag USA LLC) – Miami; 

o Canada (through Safe Bag Canada Inc.) – Montreal, Vancouver, Calgary; 

o Peru (through Safe Bag Latam Peru S.A.C.) - Lima 

 

Trawell Co S.p.A. is listed on the Euronext Growth Milan market, organized and managed by Borsa Italiana 
S.p.A. 

It is the only global company of the sector that is listed in a stock exchange. 

 

Offered services 

The service portfolio of Trawell Co is the most extensive and innovative within both the industry and at a 
global level. 

The standard value proposition offered at most airports includes baggage protection services, the sale of 
travel accessories, and the Weigh & Save service. 

The Baggage Protection service includes two service packages with unique characteristics in the industry: 

 Basic Protection: baggage wrapping with special anti-fire and biodegradable film, and money back 
guarantee for damage and theft of contents 

 Lost Luggage Concierge: service that includes: (i) tracking through the SITA WorldTracer System; 
(ii) reimbursement for delayed delivery of € 100 (for direct flights) or € 50 (for flights with a 
stopover) per day after 48 hours (up to a maximum of € 1,000 for direct flights and up to a maximum 
of € 500 for flights with stopover) or a refund for definitive losses up to 4,000 Euro; (iii) 24/7 Lost 
Luggage assistance as well as  IT services before, during and after the trip. 
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For customers wishing to purchase both packages (Basic Protection + Lost Luggage Concierge), Trawell Co 
S.p.A. offers a "bundle" offer called Premium Protection at a discounted price with respect to the price of 
individual services as well as a Platinum offer which includes Basic Protection and two Lost Luggage 
Concierge services. 

The Lost Luggage Concierge service is provided by Sostravel.com S.p.A., a company directly owned by the 
Issuer (hereinafter also "Sostravel.com" or "Sostravel"). 

It integrates the offer of Trawell Co S.p.A. the sale of Baggage and Travel Accessories for the comfort and 
safety of passengers during the flight, selected by leading global brands. 

The Weigh and Save Service is implemented with a scale that allows for double weighing with a single 
payment. 

In addition, Trawell Co S.p.A. offers additional services to passengers in certain airports such as luggage 
deposits, luggage deliveries, concierge services, etc. 

In particular, the baggage storage service reported a significant growth rate due to the fact that the airport 
is increasingly becoming an important hub for tourist city break trips. The Group currently provides baggage 
storage services in 12 airports. 

Sales Points 

The Trawell Co Group designs its own sales points internally by availing itself of the collaboration of trusted 
suppliers and utilizing top quality materials. Each sales point has unique characteristics and is adapted to 
the spaces and needs of airports. 

The sales points vary on the basis of the size and variety of offered services; they are primarily of three 
types: 

 Baggage wrapping stations (Stand Alone) 

 Kiosks with signs and displays for travel accessories 

 Traditional sales points with a wide range of products and services for travelers. 
 

 

All types of sales points are strategically located in departure areas near check-in zones of departing 
passengers and are designed to maximize visibility and the propensity for purchase. 
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Communication and Marketing 

Trawell Co S.p.A. invests significant resources in order to constantly improve its image. The Company has 
been capable of generating a strong brand identity which emotionally connects passengers and attracts 
their attention. The logo is a key factor for success: The Trawel Co positions within the airport are elegant, 
luminous and attractive for passengers in addition to being in harmony with the airport environment. 

Significant resources have been invested in advertising through a variety of channels: printed media, 
billboards, social networks, mailing, co-marketing and TV. The marketing efforts of Trawell Co focus both 
on online and social media as well as “traditional media” inside and outside the airport. 

 

 

Personnel 

Our staff has been the true driving factor for success of the company in the past years as well as its future 
guarantee of success. 

Trawell Co S.p.A. invests significant resources in order to attract, develop and retain the best talent which 
combines technical competencies with an exceptional sales capacity and customer service skills. 

These prerequisites are attained through the contribution of the following factors: 

 Rigorous selection procedures 

 Numerous hours of training in the classroom and in the field 

 Incentive systems for obtaining results 

 Programs for international promotions and mobility. 
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Hardware and Software 

The wrapping machines are state of the art and are entirely designed and manufactured in the Trawell Co 
S.p.A. plant in Gallarate. Their applied innovative technology allows operators to safely wrap baggage in 
less than 30 seconds. 

 

 

 

 
 
The wrapping machines are equipped with a sophisticated proprietary software (Revenue Control System) 
as well as a system of sensors which record economic and operational performance in real time and 
remotely. 
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2. Shareholding structure 
 

The Trawell Co Group is composed of the Italian parent company Trawell Co S.p.A. and the subsidiaries 
reported in the following table, updated on the date of approval of this report. 

 

The company Pack & Fly Group OU holds 100% of the share capital of the following companies: UAB 
Packetas, Bagazh Ltd, Biznes Zal Ltd, Pack&Fly Group Chile Spa, Pack and Fly Luggage Wrapping Services 
Inc, Pack & Fly CO. Ltd. 
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3. Company bodies 
 
The composition of company bodies is illustrated below.  
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

        

Chairman and CEO     Rudolph Gentile 

    

Non executive director     David Debach 

    

Non executive director   Gianluca Farioli 

    

Non executive director   Marek Gentile Niedzielski 

    

Independent director     Edoardo Zarghetta 

       

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 

        

Chairman     Stefano Baruffato 

        

Standing Auditors      Antonio Spizzichino/Enrico Orvieto 

        

Alternative Auditors     Massimo Alfieri/Armando Pontecorvo 

        

AUDITING COMPANY 

        

Auditing company     Audirevi 

        

NOMAD 

        

Nominated Advisor     Baldi & Partners  

        
 
 
The Board of Directors was appointed by the Shareholders' Meeting of 1 June 2022. 
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4. Trawell Co S.p.A. in the stock exchange  
 

Trawell Co. S.p.A. (previously Safe Bag S.p.A.) was listed within the Milan Stock Exchange in September 
2013 within the Euronext Growth Milan (“EGM”) segment. 
 
 
Euronext Growth Milan is the “Borsa Italiana” stock market dedicated to SMEs and which allows access to 
stock markets through a simplified listing process; it currently includes about one fifth of the companies 
listed on the Stock Exchange.  
 
During the first half of 2022, the stock reached a minimum value of € 4.86, a maximum value of € 6.74 and 
- as of the date of preparation of this document - the stock prices was equal to approximately € 5.10. 
Reported below are the trends relative to the volumes and performance of the stock price during the first 
half of 2022 compared with that of FTSE Euronext Growth Milan. 
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1. Operational performance, business outlook and continuity for the 
Trawell Co Group 

 

The results of the first half of 2022 confirm the return to profitability of the Trawell Co Group already started 
in 2021, reporting positive Ebitda (+2.0 million €) compared to the negative figure of the first half of 2021 (-
0.2 million €): an increase of approximately 2.2 million Euro. 

In addition, it should be noted that - for the first time since the start of the pandemic - all margin indicators 
are improving compared to the first half of 2019, the last year before Covid-19. 

These trends are primarily driven: 

• by the results of the airports in the North American continent, in particular Miami and Montreal; Miami 
- which benefited from the effects of the new contract renewed in the second quarter of 2022 - reported 
revenues close to those of 2019, Montreal even exceeds the 2019 figures in terms of revenues. 

 by the benefits deriving from all initiatives undertaken as early as 2020 as well as by the structural 
reorganization of the group in organizational, logistical and operational terms; by the decrease in 
personnel and of fixed structural costs relative to variable operating costs as well as of the cost of airport 
personnel; and by the renegotiation of contracts with airport partners; 

 by the gradual recovery of airport traffic which has improved the performance of all managed airports 
compared to the same half year in 2021 and which, amongst other things, has allowed for the reopening 
of the Lima airport. 

 

Emerging from the emergency phase of Covid-19 

The first half of 2022 was still affected by the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on airport passenger traffic 
which - although recovering compared to the same half of 2021 (+ 230% in managed airports) - still reported 
-29% compared to the first half of 2019. These dynamics led to the reporting of Group revenues which were 
approximately 263% higher than that of the same period of 2021, and given the same scope of 
consolidation. 

The primary events of the first half of 2022 are as follows. 

 In March 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. undersigned a contract with GEASAR S.p.a. - the management company 
of Olbia Costa Smeralda Airport - for the management of the baggage wrapping service for the summer 
season of 2022. 

 In March 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. renewed, through its French subsidiary FSB Service, the license at Lyon 
Saint-Exupéry international airport. Under this agreement, FSB Service will be able to offer a wider range 
of products and services compared to the past, and will continue to operate in Lyon until December 
2023. 

 In April 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. renewed - through its US subsidiary Safe Wrap of Florida JV LLC - the 
agreement at Miami International Airport for a period of six years, effective as of January 2022 and until 
December 2027. In addition, and in order to allow for a partial recovery of the losses suffered due to 
the pandemic, the renewed agreement provides for - compared to the previous contract - significant 
improvements for Safe Wrap of Florida JV, LLC, including, in particular, a decrease in the royalties 
recognized in favor of the airport. 

 In May 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. - through its subsidiary Safe Bag Czech Republic S.r.o. - was awarded the 
tender for the supply of its integrated passenger assistance services at the international airport of 
Prague (Czech Republic) for seven years, as of June 2022. Prague airport is the most important airport 
in Eastern Europe. In 2019, Prague airport handled traffic of 17.8 million passengers, all international. 
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 In June 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. renewed the agreement for the provision of its integrated passenger 
assistance services at Rome Fiumicino International Airport, Terminal 3 (Italy). Under this agreement, 
Trawell Co continues to operate in Rome Fiumicino for an additional three years without interruption, 
and up until October 2025. Rome Fiumicino airport is the most important Italian airport, the ninth in 
Europe. In 2019, Rome Fiumicino airport handled traffic of 43.5 million passengers, of which 32.3 on 
international flights. 

The average duration of the Trawell Co Group's licenses portfolio (average duration of licenses weighted 
on the basis of revenues) as at 30 June 2022 was 3.3 years, an increase compared to 30 June 2021.  

 

Strengthening of the Group's financial structure: New lines of financing: 

 
In May 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. obtained the second part of the financing for the development of e-
commerce approved by Simest during 2021. The total financing of 313,750 Euro has a non-repayable 
component of 40% (equal to 125,500 Euro) while the remaining 60% will be repaid to the lender. 

 

Primary events after 30 June 2022 

There were no events to report after 30 June 2022. 
 

Russian-Ukrainian conflict 

As of the date of drafting of this document, the Parent Company has undertaken a series of initiatives aimed 
at protecting the operations of the Russian subsidiaries. The business operations of the two companies - 
despite being affected by the consequences of the sanctions - reported a positive margin in the first half of 
2022 which was due to domestic and international traffic of the Middle Eastern and Asian routes. 
However, there are elements of uncertainty related to the persistence of the crisis which - up to now - have 
involved only slight changes in the operating conditions of the business. In addition, the euro / Russian ruble 
exchange rate - with the exception of March during which the Russian currency sustained a strong level of 
depreciation - is currently at a lower value than the pre-crisis one, therefore benefiting the Group. 

Given the uncertainty of the Russian-Ukrainian crisis, it should be noted that the direct effects on the 
operations of the companies were considered as  indicators of impairment tests; however, given the positive 
results of the first half of the year, there were no changes applied with respect to 31 December 2021. 
It should be noted that the management of Trawell co is constantly in contact with the minority shareholder 
of the Russian subsidiaries in order to monitor the evolution of the crisis. 

 

*** 
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2. Economic and financial performance of the Trawell Co Group 
 
The Group's results in the first half of 2022 reported a significant increase compared to 2021 in all primary 
indicators: revenues of 10.9 million Euro (+ 52%); EBITDA of + 2.0 million Euro, an increase of 2.2 million 
Euro; Net result (economic result after taxes) equal to + 2.0 million Euro, an increase of 1.4 million Euro; 
NFP of 9.5 million Euro. 
 
The consolidated economic/financial results as of 30 June 2022: 
 

 
 
 
A summary comparison between 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 is provided below:  
 

• REVENUES of 10.9 million Euro, up by 3.7 million Euro (+ 52%); 
 

• EBITDA was equal to + 2.0 million Euro, up by 2.2 million Euro;  
 
• EBIT was equal to +2.1 million Euro, up 2.6 million Euro; 

 
• EBT of +2.3 million Euro, up by 2.9 million Euro; 

 
• NET INCOME was equal to + 2.0 million Euro, up by 2.6 million Euro; 

  
• The NFP was equal to 9.5 million Euro, down 0.2 million Euro with respect to 31 December 

2021; 
 

• Weighted average duration of the contracts portfolio: 3.3 years 

(data in Mil €)

30-jun-22 30-giu-21 Total Perc. (%)

REVENUES 10,9 7,2 3,7 52%

EBITDA 2,0 (0,2) 2,2 1043%

EBIT 2,1 (0,5) 2,6 483%

EBT 2,3 (0,6) 2,9 464%

P&L 2,0 (0,6) 2,6 416%

30-jun-22 31-dec-21 var. %

NFP (Cash) 9,5 9,3 0,2 2%

of which NFP short term (Cash) (0,6) (2,6) 2,0 77%

Weighted average life of the 

concession holder
3,3 2,5

Variation

Consolidated Financial Statement
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Comments on the main consolidated economic results as of 30 June 2022 and comparison with the results 
as of 30 June 2021. 
 
 
The increase in revenues is in line with the recovery in passenger traffic reported in managed airports. 
 
An analysis of revenues by geographical area confirms international diversification in the first half of 2022, 
with America as the first market of the Group with approximately 50% of revenues, Europe with 28% as the 
second market and Asia with approximately 22% of revenues. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

EBITDA amounted to approximately +2.0 million Euro, up by 2.2 million Euro compared to the same figure 
for 2021. The EBITDA margin was 18.2%, significantly higher than the 4.7% in the first half of 2019 (pre-
Covid year). 
This result was generated: 
 
• by the results of the airports in the North American continent, in particular Miami and Montreal; Miami 

- which benefited from the effects of the new contract renewed in the second quarter of 2022 - reported 
revenues close to those of 2019, Montreal even exceeds the 2019 figures in terms of revenues. 

• by the benefits deriving from all initiatives undertaken as early as 2020 as well as by the structural 
reorganization of the group in organizational, logistical and operational terms; by the decrease in 
personnel and of fixed structural costs relative to variable operating costs as well as of the cost of airport 
personnel; and by the renegotiation of contracts with airport partners; 

Area jun-22 % jun-21 %

Europe 2.829.521           28% 2.534.708           39%

Asia 2.173.849           22% 2.852.102           43%

America 4.944.708           50% 1.187.666           18%

9.948.078           6.574.476           

Europe; 2.830

Asia; 2.174

America; 4.945

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA
(€ x 1.000) 



 Report on Operations 

16 

 

• by the gradual recovery of airport traffic which has improved the performance of all managed airports 
compared to the same half year in 2021 and which, amongst other things, has allowed for the reopening 
of the Lima airport. 

 
 

EBT was positive for circa 2.3 million Euro, up by 2.9 million Euro. This result was determined not only by 
the items that affect EBITDA but also by: depreciation/amortization of approximately 0.3 million Euro; the 
use of the provision set aside in 2021 for the departure of employees of Paris airports totaling approximately 
0.5 million Euro (recorded under labor costs for the same amount); and net financial income of 
approximately 0.2 million Euro. 
  
Net income was positive for circa 2.0 million Euro, up by 2.6 million Euro. 
 
Net financial debt (NFP) was equal to 9.5 million Euro, a decrease of 0.2 million Euro compared to 31 
December 2021.  
 
 
 

Consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2022 
 
 

Consolidated income statement 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Values in Euro 30-jun-22

% on 

revenues 30-jun-21

% on 

revenues Change 22-21 Change.  %

Revenues 9.948.078 91% 6.574.476 91% 3.373.602 51%

Increases  in internal ly constructed fixed assets 0% 0% 0 n.a

Change in inventories 12.701 0% (27.153) 0% 39.854 (147%)

Other revenues 972.995 9% 641.044 9% 331.951 52%

Total revenues 10.933.774 100% 7.188.367 100% 3.745.407 52%

Cost of sa les 772.061 7% 424.653 6% 347.408 82%

Service costs 4.552.919 42% 4.354.692 61% 198.227 5%

Personnel  costs 2.714.116 25% 2.276.522 32% 437.594 19%

Other costs 900.742 8% 344.030 5% 556.712 162%

EBITDA 1.993.936 18% (211.530) (3%) 2.205.466 (1.043%)

Amortization 305.170 3% 356.723 5% (51.553) (14%)

Al locations (411.775) (4%) (20.294) 0% (391.481) 1929%

EBIT 2.100.541 19% (547.959) (8%) 2.648.500 (483%)

Financia l  income and charges  (net) 450.261 4% 88.347 1% 361.914 410%

Revaluations  / Write-downs (274.090) (3%) (165.399) (2%) (108.691) 66%

EBT 2.276.712 21% (625.011) (9%) 2.901.723 (464%)

Taxes (302.322) (3%) 82 0% (302.404) (368.785%)

Net Profit (Loss) 1.974.390 18% (624.929) (9%) 2.599.319 (416%)

(utile(/perdita dipertinenza di terzi

Result attributable to the Group 485.705 4% (737.232) (10%) 1.222.937 (166%)
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Consolidated balance sheet 

 

 
 
 
 

Consolidated net financial position 
 

 

 
 
  

Values in Euro 30-jun-22 31-dec-21

Intangible fixed assets 15.770.237 15.496.495

Tangible fixed assets 2.897.843 3.108.533

(A) Capital assets 18.668.080 18.605.028

Inventories 933.725 901.736

Trade receivables 5.778.620 1.969.389

Other assets 5.431.525 6.536.258

Trade payables (3.868.193) (2.223.149)

Other l iabi l i ties (2.940.590) (4.133.700)

(B) Operating working capital 5.335.087 3.050.534

(C)   Total provisions (660.532) (1.241.041)

(D)=(A)+(B)+(C)  Net invested capital 23.342.636 20.414.523

Liquid funds 3.368.337 4.611.473

Current financia l  receivables 624.891 420.849

Financia l  l iabi l i ties (13.396.875) (14.138.655)

(E) Net financial payables/receivables (9.403.647) (9.106.333)

(F) Shareholders’ equity 13.938.989 11.308.190

(G)= (F)- (E) Sources 23.342.636 20.414.523

Values in Euro 30-jun-22 31-dec-21

A Liquid funds 2.449                               1.156                                     

B Other liquid assets 3.365.888                       4.610.317                             

C Other current financial assets 624.891                           420.849                                 

D Liquidity (A + B + C) 3.993.228                       5.032.322                             

E Current financial payables 291.696                           1.050.020                             

F Current portion of non-current debt 3.098.452                       1.389.892                             

G Current financial debt (E+F) 3.390.148                       2.439.912                             

H Net current financial debt (G-D) (603.080) (2.592.410)

I Non current financial payables 10.006.727                     11.698.743                           

J Debt instrument -                                    -                                          

K Commercial payables and other non current payables 86.275                             191.555                                 

L Non-current financial debt (I+J+K) 10.093.002                     11.890.298                           

M Net financial debt (H+L) 9.489.922 9.297.888

N
Adjustment for deposits at airports, restricted bank accounts 

and securities
                           923.421                                  923.530 

O Total adjusted NFP (M-N) 8.566.501 8.374.358
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3. Other information 
 
This section provides miscellaneous information that is consistent with the provisions of Article 2428. 

Risks and operational uncertainties (business as usual) 

The departments of the Company and the Group are particularly careful in identifying and monitoring typical 
operational risks for the dual purpose of providing management with suitable tools to adequately manage 
and maximize protection of company assets. 

In accordance with the informational disclosure obligations introduced by Legislative Decree no. 32/2007 
(which incorporated Directive 2003/51/EC), it is necessary to identify the risks linked to the operations of 
Trawell Co S.p.A. and which can be summarized as follows: 

 risk linked to competition and the entry of new market players within the sector of reference as 
well as competition in terms of prices and service quality (underlying technology); 

 market risk due to potential economic recessions within national and international markets as well 
as due to geopolitical causes; 

 liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk: refer to that described in this 
Report under paragraph 5 of the “Notes to the consolidated financial statements”. 

Operational risks can be generated from the inadequacy of processes and company systems that support 
core business functions. In the case of the Group, operational risks primarily refer to the possibility of losing 
essential information for company operations as a result of problems associated with the luggage wrapping 
machines or the management of the IT system or the data management system. The Group monitors this 
type of risk both at the level of first line departments as well as within specific operating units. 

Legal disputes 

Trial initiated by Trawell Co S.p.A. against SEA, ADR and True Star Group S.p.A. (Supreme Court - General 
Registry No. 9059/2020) 

By means of sentence no. 3362/2019, the Milan Court of Appeal reached a decision on the trial with General 
Registry (GR) no. 5043/2017, fully confirming the previous ruling no. 7532/2017 of the Court of Milan which 
was rendered on 5 July 2017 and which had, amongst other items: (i) ascertained and declared that, starting 
from 2007, SEA - Società Per Azioni Esercizi Aeroportuali - for the airports of Malpensa and Linate - and ADR 
- Aeroporti di Roma SpA - for Fiumicino airport - engaged in - also in agreement with TrueStar Group S.p.A. 
- «conduct that constitutes a violation of the competition rules pursuant to articles 101 and 102 of the TFEU 
and Articles 2 and 3 of Law  287/1990 »; (ii) prohibited SEA and ADR, with reference to future negotiation 
practices between the counterparties, "from entrusting TrueStar Group S.p.A. with exclusive agreements 
relative to the areas of the airport grounds dedicated to baggage wrapping services, imposing a penalty of 
€ 200,000.00 for each violation "; (iii) rejected, however, the compensation claims put forth by Trawell Co 
S.p.A. 

On 2 March 2020, the Company filed an appeal with the Italian Supreme Court against the aforementioned 
ruling, contesting the part of the ruling in which the claim for compensation made against SEA, ADR and 
TrueStar was disregarded. On the same date, the company TrueStar Group S.p.A. also challenged the 
appeals ruling, requesting the modification of the elements of the sentence relating to the ascertainment 
of the antitrust violation and the injunction ordered with regard to future assignments of the areas of the 
airport grounds of Milan and Rome through exclusive agreements which were concluded following private 
negotiations. 

The Company's appeal was registered on 23 March 2020 and the relative proceedings are still pending to 
date. In particular, the hearing is pending. 
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Relations with financial administrations  

As previously noted in the last financial statements of the Parent Company as of 31.12.2021, the Tax Police 
Service - Gallarate Unit - completed the audit of the 2017 tax period in December 2019. In particular, the 
auditors focused on transfer prices relating to the "Trademark use" transaction. According to the analyses 
carried out by the military, the company has failed to tax positive components of income for a total of € 
649,459.19. Subsequently, during the month of June 2020, the Company was contacted by the Internal 
Revenue Agency - Provincial Directorate of Varese, in order to initiate the cross-examination aimed at a 
potential settlement. On 7 July 2020, an initial videoconference was held with the officials of the Internal 
Revenue Agency in order to initiate discussions: on that occasion, the Office expressed a different position 
with respect to the results reported in the Report on Findings of the Tax Police, ie an intention to adopt 
criteria more in line with those underlying the tax assessment settlement signed with reference to the 2013-
2016 tax periods. This approach would have led to a decrease in the disputed amount of approximately 
65%. Due to the pandemic situation, the Office postponed the discussions to 2021. 
On 23 March 2021, a new meeting was held between the parties in videoconference in order to continue 
the discussion. In this meeting, and having ascertained the absence of agreement between the parties, the 
negative outcome of the cross-examination procedure was reported. 
The tax administration is now expected to formalize its position by issuing a specific deed. 
With regard to relations with the financial administrations of the countries where the Group is present with 
its own branches, there are no updates to report with respect to the latest information disclosed in the half-
year report of 30 June 2020; the following update should be noted regarding the dispute concerning the 
subsidiary FSB Service SARL. 
On 12 January 2022, the competent French tax authorities sent the company and its consultants a formal 
report on the outcome of the amicable procedure initiated in March 2019 with the Italian Internal Revenue 
Agency following the tax audit against FSB Service EURL. More specifically, it should be noted that the 
finding regarding the 2013 tax period amounted to Euro 523,124. 
Following the cross-examination with the Italian tax authorities, the French tax authorities agreed to waive 
- as regards the higher taxable income amount - almost 50% of the dispute, ie Euro 255,683. Conversely, for 
their part, the Italian tax authorities have agreed to allow for a corresponding adjustment to be paid by FSB 
Service SARL of EUR 267,441. 
As a result, and once the entire process of the amicable procedure has been completed, the Internal 
Revenue Agency will proceed - in relation to the latter amount - with the re-settlement of the taxes relative 
to the 2013 financial year of Trawell Co. S.p.A. (previously Safe Bag S.p.A.) with consequent determination 
of the corresponding tax credit for the Italian company. 
In addition, it should be noted that - in the days following 12 January 2022, and as required by the provisions 
in force in France regarding amicable procedures - FSB Service EURL proceeded to notify the French financial 
administration of its formal acceptance of the outcome of the procedure itself. Corresponding 
communications are now awaited from the competent office of the Internal Revenue Agency to Trawell Co 
S.p.A. 

Activities linked to the certifications 

During the first half of 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. has maintained the ISO 9001: 2015 certification (quality 
management system); although it has not maintained the health and safety certification (HOSAS 18001), 
the management system which was created has nevertheless been retained. 

Organizational Model 

Trawell Co S.p.A. has adopted the Organizational, Management and Control Model (OMCM) pursuant to 
Legislative Decree  231/2001. The Company has also assigned the task of monitoring the proper functioning 
of the OMCM to a single member Supervisory Body (henceforth also the “SB”), as required by the decree 
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itself. The Supervisory Body (composed of Ms. Cinzia Berlingeri) operates on the basis of an annual activity 
plan and drafts - at the time of the audits - the relative minutes as well as the annual report for the Board 
of Directors. During the first half of 2022, the activities of the SB included the reporting of the new business 
plan for the current year, the presentation of the annual report for 2021, a meeting for a discussion on the 
internal control system with the SB of the subsidiary SOS Trawell, and a hearing with the CFO in order to 
obtain information on the operational performance of the company. An audit was also implemented in 
relation to the inclusion of clause 231 in the contracts signed with the main suppliers as well as with 
collaborators and employees. The SB also reminded the company that - following the introduction of 
additional new offences under the category of those eligible under decree 231/01 - it would be opportune 
to evaluate and potentially update the Model in this sense. No violations of the code of ethics nor of the 
provisions of the OMCM were reported. 

Workplace environment and safety 

The operations of Trawell Co S.p.A. sustained a slowdown in operations due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Trawell Co S.p.A. has: 

 reorganized its operations in compliance with the provisions of the Decrees of the President of the 
Council of Ministers by adopting the indications contained in the "Shared protocols for regulating 
measures to combat and contain the spread of the Covid-19 virus in the workplace" dated 
14/03/2020 and 24/04/2020; 

 complied with ministerial provisions - as well as with those of INAIL, the Italian Higher Institute of 
Health and the Regions where the company's activities are based - during the preparation of the 
prevention and protection measures and PPE; 

 adopted the most restrictive measures of the "Occupational Safety and Health Administration" 
during the organization of work spaces while taking into account the spread of droplets of saliva in 
the event of a sneeze or cough; 

 utilized smart working for all those activities that can be carried out at home or remotely; 

 benefited from social safety nets for the closure of airport activities. 

As part of ordinary operations, the employer has: 

 specified the scope of application of current health and safety standards in the workplace; 

 identified the parties delegated to the organization of company activities (managers), the 
management of prevention and protection measures and the distribution and management of 
individual protection devices (entrusted officers); 

 clarified the methods used for risk assessments and improved the risk assessment provided for in 
letter a) of paragraph 1 of Article 28 of Legislative Decree 81/2008; 

 improved and adapted risk assessments to current legislation; 

 adopted prevention and protection measures, including the choice of individual protection devices 
according to letter b) paragraph 2 of Article 28 of Legislative Decree 81/2008; 

 drafted and updated the risk assessment document; 

 adjusted the company's emergency plans to those of the airport authorities (Fiumicino and 
Bologna); 

 provided employees with general training (current legislation, the concept of risk, safety 
professionals, etc.), specific training (company risks and prevention and protection measures) and 
targeted training (managers, entrusted officers, workers' safety representatives, first aid and fire 
prevention and fighting workers as well as those assigned to then operation of forklift trucks); 

 organized the periodic meeting of the prevention and protection service; 
 
Due to the protracted Covid-19 emergency, the following activities have been suspended: 
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 the annual fire drill at the Gallarate site; 

 the participation of employees in fire drills held at airports. 

The interventions listed above have certainly implemented the provisions of the company policy relative to 
the health and safety of workers in the workplace, thereby achieving the following objectives: 

 establishing a management system to eliminate or minimize the risk to the health and safety of 
workers and of other parties involved in company operations; 

 implementing, maintaining and continually improving the health and safety management system of 
workers in the workplace; 

 ensuring, in itself, compliance with the health and safety policy of workers in the workplace; 

 demonstrating this compliance to others (individuals and control bodies). 

Operations with related parties 

Operations with related parties essentially concern the exchange of goods, the supply of services, the supply 
and use of financial resources with subsidiary, associated and other controlled companies and the 
optimization of Group treasury management. These relations fall within the ordinary operations of the 
company and are implemented at normal market conditions, ie at conditions which are established between 
independent parties. 
 
The Parent Company Trawell Co S.p.A. holds shareholdings in the following companies (in the percentages 
indicated in chapter A, paragraph 2 of the section "Shareholding structure" of this Report): 
 

 FSB Service Sarl, a company incorporated under French law with a share capital of Euro 50,000.00; 

 Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda, a company incorporated under Portuguese law with a share capital of Euro 
20,000.00; 

 Safe Bag USA LLC, established for business development in the United States and, specifically, within 
the Miami Airport. Safe Wrap of Florida JV LLC is part of this company; Safe Bag USA LLC retains a 
direct shareholding of 51%; 

 Safe Bag Sagl, a company incorporated under Swiss law with a share capital of Swiss Francs 
20,000.00; 

 Safe Bag Canada INC, company incorporated under Canadian law with a share capital of Canadian 
Dollars 140.60;  

 Safe Bag Polska SP. Z O.O., a company incorporated under Polish law, share capital Zloty 5,000.00; 

 Safe Bag Czech Republic S.R.O., a company incorporated under Czech law, share capital Czech 
crowns 75,000; 

 Sostravel.com S.p.A., a company incorporated under Italian law, share capital of Euro 598,122; 

 Wrapping Service LLC, a company incorporated under Russian law, share capital of Rubles 10,000; 

 Fly Pack LLC, a company incorporated under Russian law with a share capital of 10,000 Rubles, 90% 
owned by Wrapping Service LLC; 

 Pack&Fly Group OU, a company incorporated under Estonian law, share capital of Euro 2,500; 

 Safe Bag Latam Peru S.A.C, a company incorporated under Peruvian law with share capital of Sol 
3.000, 99% owned by Trawell Co S.p.A. and 1% by Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda; 

 Care4Bag, a company incorporated under Greece law, share capital of Euro 25,500. 
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On the date of approval of this Report, the company retains the following shareholding structure: (i) 51.94% 
by RG Holding s.r.l., (ii) 5.92% by Marchin Investments SA and the remaining 42.14% by the market. 
The subsidiary Sostravel.com S.p.A. is listed on the Euronext Growth Milan - Alternative Capital Market, 
organized and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A.; on the date of approval of this document, each ordinary 
share had a value of € 0.8. 
 
It should be noted that, on 8 July 2022, the Board of Directors approved, subject to the favorable opinion of 
the Independent Director, certain changes to the “Procedure relative to transactions with related parties" 
in order to adapt its provisions to the norms on related parties approved by Borsa Italiana; the latter were 
updated on the basis of the amendments made by Consob Resolution no. 21624 of 20 December 2020 to 
Consob Regulation no. 17221/2010 (the "New ORP - Operations with Related Parties - Procedure"). 
It should also be noted that Trawell Co S.p.A. acquired, with effectiveness as of 1 January 2018, the status 
of an "Issuer of financial instruments distributed extensively amongst the public" ("Publicly Traded Issuer") 
pursuant to Art. 116 of the Consolidated Financial Act and Article 2-bis of the Issuers' Regulation adopted 
by Consob with resolution no. 11971/1999. 
With regard to the details of transactions with related parties during the first half of 2022, please refer to 
that specified in the appropriate paragraphs of the Explanatory Notes of this Report. 

Management and coordination activities  

The Company is subject to management and coordination by the parent company RG Holding S.r.l. which 
directly retains – as of today’s date- 51.94% of the shares representing the share capital of Trawell Co S.p.A. 

Relations with RG Holding S.r.l. are commercial in nature and primarily financial; they pertain to financing 
operations from and to the parent company.  

Own shares 

During first half of 2022, Trawell Co S.p.A. did not purchase or sell treasury shares, either directly or through 
its subsidiaries or through a third party and - on the date of approval of this Report - does not hold such 
shares, either directly or through its subsidiaries or through a third party. 
 

Information on the environment and personnel 
 
In compliance with the provisions of Art, 2428, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, the company 
implements its activities in full compliance with safety and environmental provisions as well as norms 
regulating workplace hygiene. 
 
The management of human resources involves a continual and constant process of training and updating in 
order to create incentives for personnel to pursue professional development. In order to improve the 
services offered by its personnel in the airport, Trawell Co S.p.A. has continued to provide training courses 
that aim to optimize organizational capacities, customer service and sales aptitude. Given the economic 
situation following the pandemic, the Company has continued to organize compulsory training courses. 
 
With regard to the organization of personnel, the organizational chart has been streamlined by opportunely 
separating departments and identifying roles, responsibilities and job tasks. 

IT privacy 

During the first half of 2022, the Company continued its ongoing project relative to the maintenance of the 
privacy system. 

First of all, the documentation was revised and/or updated, where necessary, in particular the Self-
governance Code for the management of information and work tools. 
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In addition, and in accordance with the Guarantor's Guidelines published in June 2021, the Privacy and 
Cookie policy of both the institutional site as well as of the shop were updated. 

During the second half of the year, the company will proceed with what had already been initiated in 
relation to the impact assessment of the SB Data Manager software as well as the analysis of the Company's 
technical risks; a review of the Registry of data processing activities - as well as a consequent updating of 
informational disclosures on the processing of data of the various categories of affected parties - is also 
planned.
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1. Consolidated financial statements 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Trawell Co Group as of 
30 June 2022 

Share capital Euro 16,018,007 
Company subject to management and coordination of RG Holding S.r.l. 

 
 

 

BALANCE SHEET 

30.06.2022 31.12.2021

Values in euro 

Non-current assets

Intangible fixed assets 1 1.116.813 843.071

Goodwill 2 14.653.424 14.653.424

Plants and machinery 3 2.897.843 3.108.533

Other financial assets at fair value recognized in the other components of 

the total income statement 4 768.651 748.049

Other non-current assets 5 341.401 338.369

Non-current financial assets 6 1.357.270 1.309.343

Deferred tax assets 7 284.406 277.407

Total non-current assets 21.419.808 21.278.197

Current assets

Inventory 8 933.725 901.736

Trade receivables 9 5.778.620 1.969.389

Other current assets 10 2.451.622 3.541.214

Current tax assets 11 228.175 321.876

Current financial assets 12 602.267 420.849           

Cash and cash equivalents 13 3.368.337 4.611.473

Financial derivatives instruments 24 22.624 -                    

Total current assets 13.385.369 11.766.536

Total assets 34.805.177 33.044.733

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 16.018.007 16.018.007

Reserves 2.945.165 2.092.317

Valuation reserve (1.537.293) (1.633.307)

Profit (loss) carried forward (8.534.886) (7.964.239)

Net result for the period 485.705 (570.647)

Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 9.376.698 7.942.131

Third-party SE 4.562.291 3.366.059

Total shareholders’ equity 14 13.938.989 11.308.190

Non current liabilities

Non current financial payables 15 10.006.727 11.698.743

Provisions for other employee benefits 16 462.168 555.438

Provisions for future risks and charges 17 198.364 685.603

Deferred tax liabilities 18 54.130 49.005

Other non-current liabilities 19 86.275 191.555

Total non-current liabilities 10.807.664 13.180.345

Current liabilities

Current financial payables 20 3.390.148 2.383.415

Trade payables 21 3.868.193 2.223.149

Other current liabilities 22 1.845.967 3.237.398

Liabilities for current taxes 23 954.217 655.741

Financial derivatives instruments 24 -                  56.497

Total current liabilities 10.058.526 8.556.200

Total SE and liabilities 34.805.177 33.044.733
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT

Note 30.06.2022 30.06.2021

Values in euro 

Revenues from sales 25 9.948.078 6.574.476

Change in inventories 26 12.701 (27.153)

Other revenues 25 972.995 641.044

Total revenues 10.933.774 7.188.367

Purchase costs 27 (772.061) (424.653)

Service costs 28 (4.552.919) (4.354.692)

Personnel costs 29 (2.714.116) (2.276.522)

Other operating costs 30 (900.742) (344.030)

Operational costs (8.939.837) (7.399.897)

Gross operating margin 1.993.937 (211.530)

Amortization/depreciation 1,3 (305.170) (356.723)

Provision for risks 31 450.819 20.294

Revaluations / (Write-downs) 32 (39.044) -                    

Operating result 2.100.542 (547.959)

Financial income 450.261 88.347

Financial expenses (274.090) (165.398)

Net financial income (expenses) 33 176.171 (77.052)

Result before taxes 2.276.713 (625.011)

Taxes 34 (302.322) 82

Net result  (A) 1.974.391 (624.929)

Ascribable to:

(Net income)/loss pertaining to third parties (1.488.686) (112.303)

Result pertaining to the Group 485.705 (737.232)

Other Profit/(Losses) from the comprehensive income statement:

Other components of the comprehensive income statement 

which will be subsequently booked to the income statement

Foreign currency translation of financial statements 1.878.305 181.169

Tax effect relative to other net income (loss)

Other components of the comprehensive income statement 

which will not be subsequently booked to the income statement

Actuarial net income/(loss) relative to  "defined benefit plans" 16 75.660 28.591

Actuarial net income/(loss) relative to measurement of financial assets at fair value 20.354 169.527

Total other net income/(loss) net of the fiscal effect (B) 1.974.319 379.287

Total comprehensive net income / (loss) (A) + (B) 3.948.711 (245.642)
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT

Values in euro 

30.06.2022 30.06.2021

Net income (loss) of the period before taxes 2.276.713 (625.011)

Adjustments due to:

 - non-monetary items- changes in inventories (31.989) 14.612

 - non-monetary items - Net write-down (revaluation) of fixed assets 39.044 -                       

 - non-monetary items- provisions / (releases) (450.819) (20.294)

 - non-monetary items-amortization/depreciation 305.170 356.723

Adjusted net income of the period (loss) before taxes 2.138.119 (273.970)

Liquid funds from operations

 - Income taxes 87.981 (31.163)

Total 87.981 (31.163)

Changes in working capital

Changes in trade receivables (3.809.231) (95.312)

Changes in trade payables 1.645.044 (69.109)

Changes in other receivables and payables (410.151) (44.793)

Other changes 1.826.200 159.843

Changes in termination indemnities and other provisions (54.030) 54.498

Total (802.168) 5.126

Cash flows from operations (1) 1.423.932 (300.007)

Investments:

- Tangible (27.797) 66.637

 - Intangible (379.469) (139.389)

 - Financial (229.593) (319.775)

Cash flows from investments (2) (636.859) (392.526)

Financial activities

Increase/(decrease) in financial payables (685.283) 668.064

Dividends disbursed to third parties (1.344.163) (145.830)

Monetary capital increases -                       2.055.615

Cash flow from financing activities (3) (2.030.209) 2.554.065

Change in liquid funds  (1+2+3) (1.243.136) 1.861.532

Liquid funds at year start 4.611.473 3.354.215

Liquid funds at year end 3.368.337 5.215.747
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Movements in consolidated shareholders’ equity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Values in euro

Share capital Reserves

Net income 

carried forward Profit of the year Group Total

Third party 

reserves Result of third parties

Total third 

parties Total

31/12/2020 14.158.082           408.294             4.658.189 (12.622.371) 6.602.194                    2.325.712 (337.840) 1.987.872          8.590.066                 

Allocation of the result (12.622.371) 12.622.371 -                                (337.840) 337.840 -                      -                             

Capital increase 1.859.925 195.690 2.055.615 2.055.615

Dividends distributed -                                (145.830) (145.830) (145.830)

Transfer of shares in subsidiaries to third parties (329.655) (329.655) 329.655 329.655 -                             

Other movements -                                (23.125) (23.125) (23.125)

Overall result 184.625 184.625 (58.516) (58.516) 126.109

Result (570.647) (570.647) 1.276.003 1.276.003 705.356

31/12/2021 16.018.007           458.954             (7.964.182) (570.647) 7.942.131                    2.148.572 1.217.487 3.366.059          11.308.190              

Allocation of the result (570.647) 570.647 -                                1.217.487 (1.217.487) -                      -                             

Dividends distributed -                                (1.344.163) (1.344.163) (1.344.163)

Overall result -                                26.252 26.252 26.252

Result 948.862 948.862 1.025.458 1.025.458 1.974.319

Result 485.705 485.705 1.488.686 1.488.686          1.974.391

30/06/2022 16.018.007           1.407.816          (8.534.830) 485.705 9.376.698                    3.073.605 1.488.686 4.562.291          13.938.989              
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2. Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Introduction 

These consolidated half year financial statements as of 30 June 2022 (henceforth, the "Consolidated 
Financial Statements") have been prepared in compliance with the obligations set forth in the Euronext 
Growth Milan Regulations of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.. 

These consolidated financial statements have also been prepared by the Company in compliance with 
international financial accounting standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and ratified by the European Union. “IFRS” also refers to the International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) that are still in force as well as all interpretational documents issued by the Interpretation 
Committee, previously known as the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
and, prior to that, as the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”). 

1. Basis for presentation  

The consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2022 are composed of a Balance Sheet, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and the 
Explanatory Notes; it is accompanied by the report on operations of the directors. 

The outline used for the Balance Sheet provides for a distinction between current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. 

The Group has opted for the presentation of items relative to net income/loss of the year within a single 
statement of comprehensive income which includes the result of the year and, for similar categories, the 
proceeds and charges which, in accordance with the IFRS, are directly booked under shareholders’ equity. 
The adopted outline for the statement of comprehensive income provides for a classification of costs by 
nature.  

The statement of changes in shareholders’ equity includes not only the comprehensive profits/losses of 
the period but also the amounts of operations with share capital owners as well as movements in reserves 
during the year.  

The cash flow statement reports financial flows from operating activities by utilizing the indirect method 
whereby the net income or loss of the year is adjusted as a result of the effects of non-monetary 
operations or as a result of any deferment or allocation of previous or future operational inflows or 
outflows as well as by revenue or cost items linked to financial flows deriving from investment or financial 
activities. 

The outlines for the balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity and cash flow statement are in Euros; the values reported in the explanatory notes 
are also reported in Euros. 

2. Scope of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the balance sheets as of 30 June 2022 of the 
companies/entities included within the scope of consolidation (henceforth, the “consolidated entities”), 
drafted in accordance with the IAS/IFRS accounting principles of the Group.  

A subsidiary company is defined as any firm over which the Group retains the following simultaneously:  

- decision-making power, ie the capacity to manage the primary activities of the subsidiary, ie those 
activities which have a significant effect on the results of the subsidiary itself;  

- a right to the variable results (positive or negative) derived from its shareholding in the consolidated 
entity;  
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- a capacity to utilize its decision making powers to determine the amount of the results derived from 
a shareholding in the consolidated entity.  

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included within the consolidated financial statements from the 
date of acquisition of control to the date of termination of this control. The shareholders’ equity quotas and 
the result attributable to minority shareholders are reported separately and respectively within the 
consolidated Balance Sheet and Income Statement. 

The entities included within the scope of consolidation and the relative direct or indirect shareholding 
quotas held by the Group are listed below. 

Subsidiary companies are consolidated with the line-by line method. 
 
Indicated below are the list of equity investments of Trawell Co S.p.A .: 
 

 
 

* The company Safe Bag USA LLC was founded without a share capital payment, in accordance with applicable US 
legislation. The contribution of resources was implemented through financing from Trawell Co S.p.A.. 

 

Consolidation criteria  

The primary consolidation criteria are as follows: 

 the book value of equity investments included within the scope of consolidation is cancelled out against 
the relative shareholders’ equity following the booking of assets and liabilities with the line-by-line 
method; the potential difference which emerges from the aforementioned cancellation will – after being 

Company name Founding date Registered office Currency Share capital % Ownership (dir. o indir.)

FSB SERVICE SARL 15/02/2007 58 Avenue Wagram 75017 PARIS EUR 50.000 100%

FLYSAFEB UNIPESSOAL LDA 10/11/2011
Rua Tomás da Fonseca, Torres de Lisboa,

Torre G, 5º Andar  1600-209 Lisboa - 
EUR 20.000 100%

SAFE BAG USA LLC* 21/05/2012
1111 Lincoln Road suite 400 Miami Beach,

FL 33139
USD 0 100%

SAFE WRAP OF FLORIDA JV LLC 29/05/2012 4050 N.W. 29 Street Miami  FL 33142 USD 300.000 51%

SAFE BAG SAGL 21/02/2002 AEROPORTO DI ZURIGO CHF 20.000 100%

SAFE BAG CANADA INC 04/02/2016
100 New Park Place, Suite 1400, Vaughan

Metropol i tan Centre, Vaughan, ON, L4K 0J3
CAD 140,60 100%

SOS TRAVEL.COM S.p.A. 27/11/2017 Via  Olona 183/G- Gal larate (VA)-Ita l ia EUR 717.826 11%

SAFE BAG POLSKA SP.Z.O.O. 15/05/2017
ul . MARSZAŁKOWSKA, nr 84/92, lok. 2,

miejsc. WARSZAWA, kod 00-514
PLN 5.000 100%

SAFE BAG LATAM PERU S.A.C 15/12/2017
Avenida - Paseo De La  Republ ica  Prov: Lima 

150131 San Is idoro
SOL 3.000 100%

SAFE BAG CZECH REPUBLIC S.R.O. 31/01/2022 Belgická  115/40, Vinohrady, 120 00 Praha 2 CZK 75.000 100%

CARE4BAG 08/04/2013
Spata, Attica Greece Athens International

Airport
EUR 25.500 60%

WRAPPING SERVICE LLC 28/07/2016
Via Efimova, nr 1/4, A- San Pietroburgo -

Russ ia
RUB 10.000 51%

FLY PACK LLC 19/04/2013
Baumanskaya str, 11, bldg 8, Moscow

105005, Russ ia
RUB 10.000 46%

PACK&FLY GROUP OU 19/09/2014
Harju Maakond, Tal l in, KesKl inna

l innaosa, Navra, mnt 13,10151 - Estonia
EUR 2.500 51%

UAB PACKETAS 01/08/2014
Vi lniaus m. sav. Vi lnius City Girul ia i g. 10-

201- Li tuania
EUR 2.896 51%

BAGAZH LTD 14/10/2014
Kyrgyzstan, Bishkek, prosp. Chui , 4 A -

Kyrgyzstan
KGS 10.000 51%

BIZNES ZAL LTD 16/10/2016
Kyrgyzstan, Bishkek, prosp. Chui , 4 A -

Kyrgyzstan
KGS 1.000 51%

PACK&FLY GROUP CHILE SPA 13/02/2018 Chi l i  - Santigo, Agustinas  641 piso 5 CLP 5.000.000 51%

PACK AND FLY LUGGAGE

WRAPPING SERVICES INC.
13/08/2018

Phi l ippines  - Room 210 2/F Medal le

bui lding Osmena boulevard Capitol  s i te, 
PHP 529.733 51%

PACK & FLY CO.LTD 28/10/2015
Thai land -1108/31 Sukhumvit Road,

Phrakanong, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110
THB 2.000.000 51%
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allocated, where feasible, to individual asset and liability items – be used to adjust Group shareholders’ 
equity and booked under profits (losses) carried forward; 

 debit and credit items as well as costs and revenues, received dividends and potential other operations 
between the companies included within the scope of consolidation are cancelled; 

 in order to convert financial statements reported in foreign currencies into Euro, the following criteria 
were adopted, in accordance with currently effective regulations: 

 assets and liabilities are valuated at the spot exchange rate in force on 30 June 2022; 

 income statement items are valuated by applying the average exchange rate of the period. 

Exchange rate differences deriving from the foreign currency translation of shareholders’ equity at historical 
exchange rates compared to those in force on the date of the financial statements – including the difference 
derived from the economic result generated by applying the average exchange rate of the period – are 
booked directly under shareholders’ equity within a specific “Foreign currency translation reserve”. 
  
The exchange rates used for the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are as follows: 

 daily Euro / dollar exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 1.0387. 

 average Euro / USD exchange rate in June 2022: 1.0934. 

 daily Euro / Swiss franc exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 0.9960. 

 average Euro / Swiss franc exchange rate in June 2022: 1.0319. 

 daily Euro / Canadian dollar exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 1.3425. 

 average Euro / Canadian dollar exchange rate in June 2022: 1.3900. 

 daily Euro / Polish Zloty exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 4.6904. 

 average Euro / Polish Zloty exchange rate in June 2022: 4.6354. 

 daily Euro / Chilean Peso exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 962.0600. 

 average Euro / Chilean Peso exchange rate in June 2022: 902.6661. 

 daily Euro / Philippine Peso exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 57.1500. 

 average Euro / Philippine Peso exchange rate in June 2022: 56.9979. 

 daily Euro / Peruvian Nuevo Sol exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 3.933. 

 average Euro / Peruvian Nuevo Sol exchange rate in June 2022: 4.1322. 

 daily Euro / Thai Baht exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 36.754. 

 average Euro / Thai Baht exchange rate in June 2022: 36.855. 

 daily Euro / Kyrgyzstani som exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 82.5767. 

 average Euro / Kyrgyzstani som exchange rate in June 2022: 93.6319. 

 daily Euro / Russian Ruble exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 53.8580. 

 average Euro / Russian Ruble exchange rate in June 2022: 82.6077. 

 daily Euro / Czech Corona exchange rate as of 30 June 2022: 24.739. 

 average Euro / Czech Corona exchange rate in June 2022: 24.6485. 

 

 (Source: Bank of Italy http://cambi.bancaditalia.it) 
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With regard to information on trends in Group activities, the primary events which occurred during the 
course of 2022, as well as those which occurred after the closing date of the year, refer to Report on 
Operations which accompany these consolidated explanatory notes. 
 

1. Applied accounting principles 

General drafting principles for intra-year results 

Monthly economic-financial results reported fluctuations that are due to the seasonal nature of the typical 
business of air transportation with peak trends which are therefore concentrated mainly in the summer and 
winter periods coinciding with the Christmas holidays: this influences the performance of the third and 
fourth quarters of each financial year in a particularly positive manner. 

It follows that the Group's interim results do not contribute uniformly to the formation of the economic and 
financial results of each year. 

Taxes are calculated in relation to the result of the period, and are based on the best estimate of the tax 
rate that is expected to be applied to the result of the entire year. 

Costs sustained in a non-homogeneous or linear manner during the year are advanced and/or deferred at 
the end of the half-year, but only to the extent that their advance and/or deferral complies with the 
accounting principles for the preparation of the annual financial statements.  

Fundamental assumptions regarding the future - and other causes of uncertainty when making estimates 
on the financial statements’ date that may cause significant changes to the book values of assets and 
liabilities within the following year - are primarily related to: 

 processes for assessing non-recurring impairment losses on assets; the latter are generally 
conducted in a complete manner only during the preparation of the annual financial statements, 
except in cases in which there are indicators of impairment; 

 the process for determining the allowance for bad debts; 

 the process for valuating inventories. 

2. Valuation of fair value 

With regard to financial instruments valuated at fair value, the classification of these instruments on the 
basis of the hierarchy of levels pursuant to IFRS 13 is reported below; this hierarchy reflects the 
significance of the inputs used to determine fair value. The following levels are provided for:  

Level 1 – non-adjusted prices reported in an active market for assets or liabilities subject to valuation;  

Level 2 - inputs other than the quoted prices mentioned in the preceding paragraph and which are directly 
observable within the market (as in the case of prices) or indirectly observable (ie derived from prices);  

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data  

  

As of 30 June 2022, there were assets and liabilities valuated at fair value for the levels reported below: 
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3. Financial risks 

The Group is primarily exposed to financial risks, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

 

Risks deriving from fluctuations in exchange rates 

The group is subject to market risk deriving from exchange rate fluctuations given that it operates in an 
international context and with transactions implemented in different currencies. Exposure to risk is due to 
both the geographical distribution of commercial activities as well as the various countries in which the 
purchases are implemented. Specific operations for hedging currency fluctuation risks are implemented by 
undersigning currency option contracts and forward currency purchase (outrights). 

 

Interest rate risk 

Given that financial debt is predominantly governed by variable interest rates, the Group is exposed to the 
risk of their fluctuation. Interest rate trends are constantly monitored by the company and, depending on 
the trend, the opportunity to adequately hedge against interest rate risk may be assessed. The Group does 
not currently implement hedging operations given the low impact of interest rate fluctuations on the 
income statement. 

 

Credit risk is represented by the exposure of the company to potential losses due to a default on 
obligations assumed by counterparts. 

Assessment of credit risk at the consolidated level is therefore not very relevant. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group finances its operations through both cash flows generated by operational management and 

Values in Euro

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Prices quoted in 

an active market

Valuation 

techniques based 

on variables 

observable on the 

market

Valuation 

techniques that 

incorporate 

significant 

variables that 

cannot be 

observed on the 

market Total

Financial assets:
 - at fair value and offset in the income statement -                    -                    -                    -           

 - at fair value and offset in the shareholders' equity 768.651             -                    768.651    

 - derivatives -                    22.624               22.624      

 - loans and receivables -                    -                    -                    -           

TOTAL 768.651             22.624               -                    791.275    

Financial liabilities:
 - at fair value and offset in the income statement -                    -                    -                    -           

 - derivatives -                    -                    -                    -           

TOTAL -                    -                    -                    -           

 30 june 2022
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through the use of external financing sources; it is therefore exposed to liquidity risk, represented by the 
fact that the financial resources are not sufficient to meet the financial and commercial obligations 
pursuant to stipulated terms and deadlines. Cash flows, financing needs and the liquidity of the group are 
monitored by taking into account the maturity of financial assets (trade receivables and other financial 
assets) as well as the cash flows expected from the relative transactions. The Group retains both secured 
and unsecured lines of credit consisting of revocable short-term credit lines in the form of hot loans, bank 
overdrafts and unsecured oans. The Group's liquid assets as of 30 June 2022 is managed by leading bank 
corporations and the company is capable of ensuring that the group has sufficient loans at all times to 
meet the financial deadlines for the next twelve months. 

4. Accounting principles and interpretations 

 
The adopted accounting standards are the same as those used for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2021, and to which reference is made for more details, with the 

exception of the following amendments which are applicable as of 1 January 2022 but which have no impact 

on the Group: 

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds Before Intended Use These 

amendments prohibit deducting - from the cost of property, plant and equipment - amounts that are 

received from the sale of products while the asset is being prepared for its intended use. The proceeds from 

the sale of the products and the relative production cost must be booked in the income statement. 

 

Amendments to IAS 37 - Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets - Onerous contracts - Costs 

to fulfill a contract 

These amendments specify that the costs to be taken into consideration when evaluating onerous contracts 

are both the incremental costs for the fulfillment of the contract (for example direct labor and materials) as 

well as the share of other costs that relate directly to the fulfillment of the contract (for example, a 

breakdown of the depreciation rate of the assets used for the fulfillment of the contract). 

 

Annual Improvements (2018 – 2020 cycle)  

Issued in May 2020 applying limited changes to certain standards (IFRS 1 - First-time adoption of IFRS, IFRS 

9 - - Financial instruments, IAS 41 - - Agriculture and illustrative examples of IFRS 16 - Leases) and clarifying 

the wording or correcting omissions or conflicts amongst the requirements of the IFRS principles.  

It should also be noted that income taxes are recognized on the basis of the best estimate of the weighted 

average rate expected for the entire year, in accordance with the indications provided by IAS 34 for the 

preparation of interim financial statements. 

 

4.2 International accounting principles and/or interpretations that have been issued but have not yet 

become effective in 2022 

The new principles or interpretations that have already been issued but have not yet entered into force or 

have not yet been ratified by the European Union as of 30 June 2022 - and therefore are not applicable – 

are illustrated below.   
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Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of financial statements - Classification of liabilities as current or non-

current 

The amendments clarify the criteria that must be applied for the classification of liabilities as current or non-

current and specify that the classification of a liability is not influenced by the probability that the settlement 

of the liability is postponed by twelve months following the reference year. The Group's intention to 

liquidate in the short term has no effect on the classification. These amendments, which will enter into force 

on 1 January 2023, have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. No effects are expected on the 

classification of financial liabilities following these amendments. 

 

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure on 

accounting principles 

These amendments provide a guide for the application of materiality judgements on the disclosure of 

accounting principles so that they are more useful; in particular: 

 the obligation to specify "significant" accounting principles has been replaced with the 

obligation to specify the "relevant" ones; 

 a guide has been added on how to apply the concept of relevance to disclosures on accounting 

principles.  

When assessing the relevance of disclosures on accounting policies, entities must consider both the size of 

transactions as well as other events or conditions and their nature. 

These amendments, approved by the European Union, will come into force on 1 January 2023. No effects 

are expected on the financial disclosures of the Group following these amendments. 

 

Amendments to IAS 8 - Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors 

These amendments introduce a new definition of “accounting estimates” by distinguishing them more 

clearly from accounting policies, and provide guidance for determining whether changes should be treated 

as changes in estimates, changes in accounting policies or errors. 

These amendments, approved by the European Union, will come into force on 1 January 2023. No effects 

are expected on the financial statements of the Group following these amendments. 

 

Amendments to IAS 12 - Income taxes - deferred and advance taxes deriving from a single transaction 

These amendments eliminate the possibility of not recognizing deferred taxes at the time of the initial 

recognition of transactions which generate taxable and deductible timing differences (eg leasing contracts). 

With regard to leasing contracts, these amendments also clarify that - when lease payments are deductible 

for tax purposes - it is a matter of judgment (after considering applicable tax law) whether such deductions 

are ascribable for tax purposes to the leasing liability booked in the financial statements or to the relative 

right of use. If the tax deductions are ascribable to the right of use, the tax values of the latter and the 

leasing liability are equal to their book values, and there are no timing differences at the time of the initial 

recognition. However, if the tax deductions are ascribed to the leasing liability, the tax values of the right of 

use and the leasing liability are null and void, thereby generating taxable and deductible timing differences, 

respectively. Even if the gross timing differences are the same, a liability and a deferred tax asset must still 

be booked. 

These amendments, which will enter into force on 1 January 2023, have not yet been endorsed by the 
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European Union. The effects on the Group financial statements following these amendments are being 

analyzed. 

 

5. Operations in Russia  

As previously communicated in the annual report of 31 December 2021, the Parent Company has started a 

series of initiatives aimed at protecting the operations of the Russian subsidiaries. The business operations 

of the two companies - despite being affected by the consequences of the imposed sanctions - reported a 

positive margin in the first half of 2022 due to domestic and international traffic of the Middle Eastern and 

Asian routes. 

As of 30 June 2022, the financial position of the subsidiary which aggregates the subsidiaries based in Russia 

is mainly composed as follows: 

- Assets of 8.9 million Euro; 

- Payables due to banks and other financiers for 0.8 million Euro;  

- Trade and other payables for 2 million Euro. 

Total shareholders' equity was equal to 6.1 million Euro, including 3.1 million Euro pertaining to the Parent 

Company and 3.0 million Euro pertaining to minority shareholders. The value of shareholders' equity 

includes a positive conversion reserve increased in the first half of 2022 by 1.8 million Euro and generated 

primarily as a result of the significant revaluation of the Ruble against the Euro (+ 35.94% change in the 

exchange rate as of 30 June 2022 compared to 31 December 2021). 

 

BALANCE SHEET 

1. Intangible fixed assets  

The item "Intangible fixed assets" amounted to Euro 1,116,813 (Euro 843,071 as of 31 December 2021). 
The composition of intangible fixed assets as of 30 June 2022 is as follows: 

 

 

All costs booked under intangible fixed assets are reasonably correlated with a useful life extending over 
several years, and are systematically amortized in relation to their residual possibility of use. The item 
“acquisition of the period” mainly refers to the creation of the e-commerce platform of the parent company 
which is transferred from other fixed assets to software. 

 

 

Values in euro

Trademarks 

& patents

Software Others Total

Values as of 31.12.2021            11.668            326.933          504.469            843.071 

Changes during the year

- Profit and loss exchange                     -   70.032             81.978          152.009

- Acquisitions of the period                     -                          -            181.000 181.000

- Decreases / reclassification            21.369            313.750 (335.119) 0

- Depreciation & amortization (760) (51.325) (7.182) (59.267)

Total changes 20.609 332.457 (79.323) 273.742

Values as of 30.06.2022 32.277 659.390 425.146 1.116.813
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2. Goodwill  

Goodwill as of 1 January 2021 was equal to € 14,653,424 and no changes occurred during the period. 

The amount is allocated to the CGUs represented by the following legal entities: 

- Flysafeb Unipessoal CGU - Portugal 3,643 thousand Euro 

- CGU Safe Bag SAGL - Switzerland 479 thousand Euro 

- CGU Care4Bag - Greece   966 thousand Euro 

- CGU Upackovka - Greece  9,565 thousand Euro 

As of 31 December 2021, goodwill was subject to an impairment tests which consist in estimating the 
recoverable value of the CGU’s whose perimeter is in line with that of the legal entities as well as in 
comparison with the net book value of the relative assets, including goodwill. For the purposes of the 
impairment test, the valuation activities were assigned to an external independent consultant. The key 
assumptions that were utilized are: an estimate (i) of future increases in sales, (ii) operating cash flows, (iii) 
the growth rate of terminal values, and (iv) weighted average cost of capital (discount rate). The expected 
cash flows cover a five-year time period (2022-2026) while the value determined at the end of the period 
covered by the plan (the terminal value) was determined by forecasting the cash flow of the last year (2026) 
with a perpetual annuity formula and without applying cash flow growth rates. On the basis of the 
conducted tests, no impairment was detected. 

It should be noted that with reference to the Russian subsidiaries, the direct effects of the Russian-Ukrainian 
crisis on the operations of the companies were considered as indicators for impairment tests but - given the 
positive results of the first half of the year, as indicated above - there are no changes compared to 31 
December 2021. 

 

3. Tangible fixed assets 

The item "Intangible fixed assets" amounted to Euro 2,897,843 (Euro 3,108,533 as of 31 December 2021). 
The breakdown of tangible fixed assets as of 30 June 2022 is as follows: 
 

 

 

On the closing date of the half year, the Group ascertained that there were no indications that tangible 
assets recorded could have been subject to impairment and, consequently, these values were considered 
fully recoverable. 

Values in euro

Land and 

buildings

Plants and 

machinery
Equipment Others Total

Cost as of 31.12.2021    1.378.338       1.691.134                34.613                 4.448           3.108.533 

Changes in the period:

- Increase from operations under common 

control
                           - 

- profit and loss exchange            6.074            19.427                   6.014                 2.051                33.566 

- purchases            2.159          194.512 20.675                 3.335 220.681

- disposals (22.889) (188.342) (5.443) (2.360) (219.034)

- Depreciation & amortization (48.995) (138.484) (26.033) (32.391) (245.903)

Total changes (63.651) (112.887) (4.787) (29.365) (210.690)

Total cost as of 30.06.2022 1.314.687 1.578.247 29.826 (24.917)           2.897.843 
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4. Other financial assets valuated at fair value and booked under other items of the 
Comprehensive Income Statement 

The item “Other financial assets valuated at fair value and booked under other items of the comprehensive 
income statement” amounted to Euro 768,651 (Euro 748,049 as at 31 December 2021). 

The item includes 792,336 shares of SosTravel.com S.p.A. (792,336 shares as of 31 December 2021) 
representing an investment equal to 11.04% of the share capital (11.04% of the share capital as of 31 
December 2021). The increase is linked to the share capital increase underwritten by the parent company. 

The shareholding was valuated at the stock market value of 30 June 2022, equal to € 0.968 per share (€ 
0.942 as of 31 December 2021), with the booking of a positive change recognized under the other items of 
the comprehensive income statement for 21 thousand Euro. 

5. Other non-current assets 

The item "Other non-current assets" amounted to Euro 341,401 (Euro 338,369 as of 31 December 2021) 
and primarily refers to security deposits of the Greek subsidiary.  

 

6. Non current financial assets 

The item "Non-current financial assets" were equal to Euro 1,357,270 (Euro 1,309,343 as of 31 December 
2021). 

The item includes "securities, shares in portfolio" totaling Euro 148,000: these are securities, owned by 
Trawell Co S.p.A., issued as guarantees in favor of the reference bank in relation to sureties issued by the 
bank in favor of the airports. This item concerns in particular the deposit of securities consisting of bond 
funds and government securities with Banca Intesa San Paolo. 
  
The item also includes restricted bank accounts for € 774,416; these refer to guarantees provided to the 
airports of Rome and Bologna, and are accounts held by the parent company. 
 
7. Deferred tax assets 
 
This item includes prepaid taxes for timing differences which will occur in subsequent years. 

 

 
 

Advance taxes which arose in relation to timing differences that are expected to occur in years after 2021 
were calculated by using an IRES rate of 24% and an IRAP rate of 3.9%. 

 

Values in euro

Prepaid taxes 31.12.2021 Use Provision 30.06.2022

Nondeductible interests 67.229                  (3.683) -                         63.546                  

Termination indemnities 32.527                  (4.692) -                         27.835                  

Estimated exchange rate losses 10.696                  - 8.991                    19.687                  

Risks funds 3.983                    (3.165) -                         818                        

Devaluation receivable funds 9.492                    -                         -                         9.492                    

Total 123.927                (11.540) 8.991                    121.378                

Portugal 119.970                - -                         119.970                

Chile 373                        (373) -                         -                         

Peru -                         - 984                        984                        

Russia 33.137                                              -   8.937                    42.074                  

Total 277.407 (11.913) 18.912 284.406
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8. Inventories 

The item "Inventories" is equal to Euro 933,725 (Euro 901,736 as of 31 December 2021). 

A breakdown of warehouse inventories as of 30 June 2022 is shown below by type and geographical area of 
reference: 

 

Given the elevated turnover of warehouse stock, there were no problems relating to obsolescence with a 
consequent provision for depreciation equal to zero. The item “Other” includes spare parts and technical 
materials pertaining to the internal production of baggage wrapping machines. 

9. Trade receivables 

The item "Trade receivables" was equal to Euro 5,778,620 (Euro 1,969,389 as of 31 December 2021). 

The change that occurred in 2022 is primarily due to the resumption of operations during the current half 
year, with specific reference to the Russian subsidiary following the easing of the restrictions due to the 
Covid-19 emergency. 

10. Other current assets 

The item "Other current assets" is equal to Euro 2,451,622 (Euro 3,541,214 as of 31 December 2021). 

The item primarily includes: receivables booked within the Estonian company for Euro 425,450; receivables 
booked within the Russian subsidiary for Euro 298,491 and relative to deposits and advances to suppliers; 
and receivables totaling Euro 1,245,031 relative to the deposit issued by Safe Wrap to the Miami airport.  

11. Current tax assets 

The item amounts to Euro 228,175 (Euro 321,876 as of 31 December 2021).  

The item mainly includes, with reference to the parent company, receivables due from the tax authorities 
totaling Euro 115,496 and taxes relative to FSB for Euro 204,568. 

With regards to Trawell Co S.p.A., it includes IRAP receivables for Euro 19,289, VAT for Euro 79,930 and 
withholding taxes for the remaining amount. 

12. Current financial assets 

The item amounts to Euro 602,267 (Euro 420,849 as of 31 December 2021). 

The item primarily refers to current financial assets relating to the Estonian and Russian subsidiaries. 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 

The item "Cash and cash equivalents" was equal to Euro 3,368,337 (Euro 4,611,473 as of 31 December 2021) 
and refers to the bank deposits of the Group. Deposits are those of the parent company and totaling Euro 
504,596 (Euro 920,437 as at 31 December 2021). The change is essentially due to the completion of the 
share capital increase which took place at the end of the first half of 2021, net of the cash absorption which 
occurred subsequently. 

Values in euro

Inventories 30.06.22 Italy France Portugal Switzerland USA Canada Czech Rep. Peru Russia Estonia Greece Total

Plastic Roles  (reels ) 62.756 11.880 33.748 2.669 46.803 29.412 2.724 5.600 8.051 203.644

Stickers 6.940 1.460 2.990 210 9.008 3.395 210 1.656 2.099 7.310 35.278

Flyers 4.207 477 593 532 478 64 6.351

Tape 2.582 391 173 45 206 133 3.531

Travel  Goods 26.838 21.753 49.827 27.179 27.946 14.619 1.065 5.051 314.314 22.754 3.701 515.046

Uniforms 57.361 1.855 7.102 66.318

Others 93.898 520 474 73 589 228 6.276 1.500 103.557

Total 254.582 36.480 87.805 30.709 83.757 50.554 4.360 19.473 314.314 31.129 20.562 933.725
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14. Shareholders’ equity 

The item "Shareholders' Equity" was equal to Euro 13,938,989 (Euro 11,308,190 as of 31 December 2021). 

The composition and movements of the Group's shareholders’ equity are summarized in the following 
tables. 

During the month of June 2021, the share capital increase of the parent company was completed and 
involved the issue of 1,859,925 new shares with a nominal value of 1 Euro each, in addition to a share 
premium of 195,890 Euro. The total number of new shares subscribed was equal to 97.808% of those 
offered for underwriting. The share capital increase is combined with free warrants at the rate of two 
“TRAWELL CO 2021-2024 WARRANTS” for each new underwritten share. 

Statement of reconciliation between shareholders’ equity and net income of the year for the parent 
company and consolidated shareholders’ equity and net income for the period of the Group  

The reconciliation is reported in the following table: 

 

 

Movements in consolidated shareholders’ equity for the past two years is reported below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Values in euro

Shareholders’ equity Result of the year

Statutory financial statements of the parent company 11.272.661 12.512

Effect of consolidation of subsidiaries' financial statements 11.763.147 4.706.464

Adjustments for internal group operations (311.732) 13.300

Dividend elimination -                                (2.757.885)

Revaluation of equity investments resumed 0

Write-down of goodwill (8.655.086)

Shareholders' equity and Total result 13.938.989                  1.974.391

Shareholders' equity and Third-party results 4.562.291 1.488.686

Shareholders' Equity and Group Result 9.376.698 485.705

Values in euro

Share capital Reserves

Net income 

carried forward Profit of the year Group Total

Third party 

reserves Result of third parties

Total third 

parties Total

31/12/2020 14.158.082           408.294             4.658.189 (12.622.371) 6.602.194                    2.325.712 (337.840) 1.987.872          8.590.066                 

Allocation of the result (12.622.371) 12.622.371 -                                (337.840) 337.840 -                      -                             

Capital increase 1.859.925 195.690 2.055.615 2.055.615

Dividends distributed -                                (145.830) (145.830) (145.830)

Transfer of shares in subsidiaries to third parties (329.655) (329.655) 329.655 329.655 -                             

Other movements -                                (23.125) (23.125) (23.125)

Overall result 184.625 184.625 (58.516) (58.516) 126.109

Result (570.647) (570.647) 1.276.003 1.276.003 705.356

31/12/2021 16.018.007           458.954             (7.964.182) (570.647) 7.942.131                    2.148.572 1.217.487 3.366.059          11.308.190              

Allocation of the result (570.647) 570.647 -                                1.217.487 (1.217.487) -                      -                             

Dividends distributed -                                (1.344.163) (1.344.163) (1.344.163)

Overall result -                                26.252 26.252 26.252

Result 948.862 948.862 1.025.458 1.025.458 1.974.319

Result 485.705 485.705 1.488.686 1.488.686          1.974.391

30/06/2022 16.018.007           1.407.816          (8.534.830) 485.705 9.376.698                    3.073.605 1.488.686 4.562.291          13.938.989              
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Share Capital as of 30 June 2022 was as follows: 

 

 

15. Non current financial payables 

The item "Non-current financial payables" amounted to Euro 10,006,727 (Euro 11,698,743 as of 31 
December 2021). 

The item is as composed as follows:  

 

 

 

Payables due to leasing companies 

 

Payables due to leasing companies as of 30 June 2022 amounted to 382,836 (460,201 Euro as of 31 
December 2021), and were composed as follows: 

 The payable due to Selmabipiemme Leasing and equal to Euro 211,399 (Euro 254,039 as of 31 
December 2021) refers to the non-current quota of the leasing payable deriving from the following 
two contracts. 

o Contract No. 30176656/1 stipulated with Selmabipiemme Leasing on 22 November 2014 
for the purchase of the industrial building located in Gallarate, via Olona, 183 G/H; this 
facility serves as the legal and administrative headquarters of the company. The 96-month 
contract provides for the reimbursement of the total value of Euro 720,000 through an 
advance payment of Euro 72,000 and 95 monthly fees, plus a redemption price of Euro 
72,000. 

o Appendix to contract no. 30176656/1 (identified with No. 30176661/1) stipulated with 
Selmabipiemme Leasing on 17 May 2016 for works relative to the rebuilding of the roof 
covering in asbestos, extraordinary maintenance and a plant engineering adjustment of the 
facility in Gallarate, via Olona, 183 G/H. The 78-month appendix provides for the 
reimbursement of the total value of Euro 165,000 through an advance payment of Euro 
16,500 and 77 monthly fees, plus a redemption price of Euro 16,500. The works referred to 

At 30.06.22

Shareholding structure

N° of shares 

owned
% CS

RG Holding S.r.l  (1) 1.288.120 51,94%

Marchin Investments  BV (2) 146.700 5,92%

Mercato 1.045.080 42,14%

Total 2.479.900 100%

Non current financial payables

30.06.2022 31.12.2021 Change Change %

Payables to leasing companies 382.776 460.201 (77.426) (17%)

Payables for bank financing 8.973.683 9.868.582 (894.898) (9%)

Loan to Safe Bag USA 208.663 464.797 (256.134) (55%)

Other payables 441.605 905.163             (463.558) -51%

Total 10.006.727 11.698.743 (1.692.016) -14%
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in the appendix subject are already booked under tangible fixed assets of previous years 
given that they are as costs sustained by the company as a user of the property to which 
the maintenance works refer. 

 The total payable to Unicredit Leasing, equal to 171,437 Euro (206,162 Euro as of 31 December 2021) 
was booked in connection with the application of IAS 17 and refers to the purchase of machinery 
which is necessary for implementing the company's core activities. 

Payables for bank financing: 

Bank financing outstanding as of 30 June 2022 amounted to 8,971,070 (9,887,235 Euro as of 31 December 
2021), and was composed as follows: 

 financing of an original 4,500,000 Euro disbursed on 27 June 2018 from Unicredit Banca for a period 
of 69 months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.90% + Euribor 3 months. The residual 
payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 3,187,500 and a short-term 
portion of € 637,500. This financing- following the decree of August 2020 for Covid - was subject to 
extension, and the payment of the installments was postponed to September 2022;  

 financing of an original 500,000 Euro disbursed on 27 June 2018 from Unicredit Banca for a period of 
69 months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.90% + Euribor 3 months. The residual 
payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 354,167 and a short-term 
portion of € 70,833. This financing- following the decree of August 2020 for Covid - was subject to 
extension, and the payment of the installments was postponed to September 2022; 

 financing of an original 500,000 Euro disbursed on 11 August 2018 from Banca BPER for a period of 
60 months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.75% + Euribor 3 months. The residual 
payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 188,429 and a short-term 
portion of € 100,261; 

 financing of an original 500,000 Euro disbursed on 1 August 2018 from Banca Monte dei paschi for a 
period of 60 months, with quarterly repayments at a variable rate of 1.70% + Euribor 6 months. The 
residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 175,000 and a 
short-term portion of € 100,000; 

 financing of an original 1,500,000 Euro disbursed on 29 June 2020 from Banca Intesa San Paolo for a 
period of 72 months, with quarterly repayments at a variable rate of 1.55% + Euribor 3 months with 
prepayment of eight quarterly installments. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented 
by the long-term portion of € 1,131,768  and a short-term portion of € 368,232. Payment of the 
installments will start in September 2022; 

 financing of an original 500,000 Euro disbursed on 19 February 2020 from Banca BPER for a period of 
36 months, with monthly repayments. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by 
the long-term portion of € 253,279 and a short-term portion of € 165,199; 

 financing of an original 1,000,000 Euro disbursed on 17 June 2020 from Banca Intesa San Paolo with 
a maximum duration of five years, with repayments of eight half-yearly installments and with 
prepayments equal to two half-yearly installments. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was 
represented by the long-term portion of € 500,000 and a short-term portion of € 250,000. 

 financing of an original 1,000,000 Euro disbursed on 17 June 2020 from Banca Unicredit for a period 
of 72 months, with quarterly repayments. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented 
by the long-term portion of € 757,799 and a short-term portion of € 242,201. The first installment of 
the loan is scheduled for September 2022; 

 original financing of € 600,000, of which 240,000 is non-repayable. The existing loan is therefore equal 
to € 360,000, and disbursed on 23 April 2021 by Simest; it includes a duration of six years, repayments 
every six months and with a prepayment period of two years. The residual debt as of 30 June 2022 is 
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represented exclusively by the long-term portion of Euro 360,000. The first installment of the loan is 
scheduled for 30 June 2024; 

 original loan of Euro 313,750 disbursed by Simest in two separate installments (225,000 in 2021 and 
88,750 in June 2022) of which 125,500 is non-repayable. The existing loan is therefore equal to € 
188,250; it includes a duration of three years, repayments every six months and with a prepayment 
period of one year. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion 
of € 125,500 and a short-term portion of € 62,750. The first installment of the loan is scheduled for 
October 2022; 

 financing of originally Euro 325,000 granted to Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda by "Banco Santander” with a 
duration of 72 months, with monthly repayment; only interest will be repaid for the first 18 
installments. The residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 
204,630 and a short-term portion of € 72,222; 

 financing of originally Euro 50,000 granted to Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda by "Banco Santander”, 
disbursed on 29 January 2021 for a period of three years and with monthly reimbursement. The 
residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 14,773 and a short-
term portion of € 11,407; 

 financing of an original 1,500,000 disbursed to FSB Service Sarl by "Credit industrial et commercial" 
on 27 April 2020; the first installment for the interest portion alone was paid as of May 2021. The 
residual payable as of 30 June 2022 was represented by the long-term portion of € 1,102,719 and a 
short-term portion of € 372,615; 

 financing of an original RUB 90,000,000 (Euro 778,697 as at 30 June 2022) disbursed in favor of 
Wrapping Service LLC by Sberbank in January 2020; the loan must be repaid in 31 monthly 
installments, and the remainder is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 615,507 and by the 
short-term portion of Euro 163,190. 

Other payables 

 financing of an original 60,000 Canadian dollars (Euro 44,693 as of 30 June 2022) disbursed in favor 
of Safe Bag Canada INC by the government: on 27 March 2020, 40,000 Canadian dollars and, on 7 
January 2021, 20,000 Canadian dollars were disbursed; the loan has been converted into a long-term 
loan with a duration of five years and no interest will be applied until 01.01.2023. After this date, a 
rate of 5% per year will be applied. If the company returns 66.6% of the debt by 31.12.2022, the 
remainder will not have to be returned; 

 financing of an original 250,000 Canadian dollars (Euro 186,220 as of 30 June 2022) disbursed in favor 
of Safe Bag Canada INC by the government on 31 March 2021. The residual debt as of 30 June 2022 
is represented by the long-term portion of 217,593 Canadian dollars (Euro 162,080 as of 30 June 2022) 
and a short-term portion equal to 27,778 Canadian dollars (Euro 20,691 as of 30 June 2022). The 
repayment of the debt began in May 2022 and has a duration of 10 years; the interest rate is 4% per 
year.  

 financing of an original CHF 100,000 (Euro 92,034 as of 30 June 2022) disbursed in favor of Safe Bag 
Sagl by the government on 26 March 2020; the loan must be repaid in 12 half-yearly installments as 
of March 2022. The residual debt as of 30 June 2022 is represented by the long-term portion of 74,998 
Swiss Francs (Euro 75,299 as of 30 June 2022) and a short-term portion equal to 16,668 Swiss Francs 
(Euro 16,735 as of 30 June 2022). 

 financing of an original Euro 15,082 disbursed to Care4Bag by the government on 26 March 2020, 
with interest equal to 0.94%; a second loan of 128,052 disbursed on 23 July 2020 with interest equal 
to 0.94%; a third loan of Euro 283,600 disbursed on 22 October 2020 with interest equal to 0.83%; a 
fourth loan of Euro 152,872 disbursed on 10 December 2020 with interest equal to 0.74%; a fifth loan 
of Euro 76,719 disbursed on 17 February 2021 with interest equal to 0.64%; a sixth installment equal 
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to Euro 33,645 disbursed on 24 March 2021 with interest equal to 0.64%; a seventh installment equal 
to Euro  48,365 disbursed on 28 April 2021 with interest equal to 0.64%. In March 2022, the company 
obtained - from the Greek government - the transformation of 75% of the total loans received into a 
non-repayable grant. The residual debt of Euro 184,584 must be repaid in 96 monthly installments, 
and is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 173,048 and a short-term portion of Euro 11,537. 

Loan held by Safe bag USA: 

 Euro 333,812 refer to the loan granted to Safe Bag USA LLC in 2014 by the related party Marchin 
Investment BV. 

16. Provisions for other employee benefits 

The item "Provisions for other employee benefits" was equal to Euro 462,168 (Euro 555,438 as of 31 
December 2021). 

Employee plans, which can be classified as defined benefit plans, are represented by termination 
indemnities booked in the parent company; the liability is instead determined on an actuarial basis by 
using the "projected unit credit" method. 

17. Future provisions for risks and charges 

The item “Provisions for future risks and charges” amounted to Euro 198,364 (Euro 685,603 as of 31 
December 2021) and is mainly ascribable to the release of provisions made in relation to the French 
company (454 thousand Euro).  

Movements are as follows: 

 

18. Deferred tax liabilities 

The item "Deferred tax liabilities" was equal to Euro 54,130 (Euro 49,005 as of 31 December 2021). The 
movements are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

Values in euro

Funds 31.12.2021 Provision Use 30.06.2022

Risks funds for complaints 14.276          2.933                   (14.276) 2.933               

Risks funds Flysafeb Unipessoal 2.601             (1.105) 1.496               

Risks funds Russia 61.103          (20.685) 40.418             

Risks funds Canada 967                267                      1.234               

Risks funds FSB Service 606.656        (454.373) 152.283

Total 685.603        3.200                   (490.439) 198.364

Values in euro

31.12.2021 Use Provision 30.06.2022

Finance leases 8.169 -                   -                         8.169         

Equity investments at FV 1.032         -                   247                        1.279         

Unrealized exchange rate gains 28.508 -                   1                             28.509       

Totale 37.709 - 248                        37.957       

Estonia 999                        999            

Russia 11.296       3.878 -                         15.174       

Totale 49.005 3.878 1.247 54.130
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19. Other non-current liabilities 

The item "Other non-current liabilities" were equal to Euro 86,275 (Euro 191,555 as of 31 December 2021). 

This item consists of the non-current portion of the payables for settlement of the dispute with the Italian 
financial administration. 

20. Current financial payables 

The item "Current financial payables" was equal to Euro 3,390,148 (Euro 2,383,415 as of 31 December 
2021). 

This item primarily consists of payables booked as bank overdrafts for Euro 291,696, short-term portions of 
loans totaling Euro 2,942,227 and short-term portions of the payable due to leasing companies totaling Euro 
156,225.  

21. Current trade payables 

The item "Current trade payables" was equal to Euro 3,868,193 (Euro 2,223,149 as of 31 December 2021). 

The item includes the balance of payables due to suppliers net of receivable credit notes and trade 
discounts. They mainly refer to payables due to airports as well as suppliers for the purchase of plastic film 
and travel goods and those due to professionals. 

22. Other current liabilities 

The item "Other current liabilities" was equal to Euro 1,845,967 (Euro 3,237,398 as of 31 December 2021). 

The item includes payables to personnel as well as tax, social security and tax consolidation payables. 

Due to the Covid emergency, the Group took advantage of the payment extension grants relating to the 
items in question, as offered in the various countries. 

With regard to the parent company, it should be noted that tax payables are equal to Euro 222,940; this 
item includes payables for Irpef equal to Euro 59,582 as well as VAT payables totaling Euro 26,546. In 
addition, the item includes payables for the settlement of the dispute with the Italian financial 
administration totaling Euro 136,542, and which have been regularly paid in installments.  

The item “social security payables” was equal to Euro 108,936 (Euro 150,482 as of 31 December 2021); the 
item mainly includes payables for INPS as well as a residual item for supplementary pension funds.  
The item "Payables due to employees" was equal to Euro 324,137 and mainly includes payables to 
employees for ordinary salaries paid in July 2022 and deferred remuneration (accruals for holidays and 
permits accrued and not taken, accrual of year end bonuses). 
The item "Payables due to the parent company" was equal to Euro 139,033 and includes payables for tax 
consolidation. 

23. Payables for current taxes 

The item "Liabilities for current taxes" was equal to Euro 954,217 (Euro 655,741 as of 31 December 2021). 
The item refers to liabilities for taxes on the result for the year, and which were mainly due in Russia (Euro 
467,229), the USA (Euro 283,412) and Estonia (Euro 64,961). 

24. Derivative financial instruments 

The item "Derivative financial payables" was positive and equal to Euro 22,624 (negative by Euro 56,497 as 
of 31 December 2021). This account includes the fair value valuation - as of 30 June 2022 - of two derivative 
contracts signed by the parent company on 27 June 2018 and 28 June 2020 in order to hedge the interest 
rate risk of the Unicredit loan and the Intesa Sanpaolo loan, respectively.  
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INCOME STATEMENT  

25. Revenues from sales and other proceeds 

The item "Revenues from sales" amounted to Euro 9,948,078 (Euro 6,574,476 in 2021). 

The breakdown of revenues as of 31 December 2021, compared with the previous period, is shown below. 

 

 

Revenues from sales and services are shown net of returns, discounts and rebates. This item includes – in 
addition to sales revenues from the core baggage wrapping service at the airport - revenues from additional 
services offered by the company, such as weighing, travel goods, baggage deposits and smart track. This 
change is ascribable to the recovery of passenger traffic after the reopening of airports due to the Covid 19 
pandemic. Please refer to the Report on Operations for the appropriate details. 

Shown below is the breakdown of standard revenues as of 30 June 2022 by geographical area, compared 
with the 30 June 2021 data: 

 

 

Other proceeds, equal to Euro 972,995 (Euro 641,044 in 2021), includes revenues deriving from accessory 
operations, including contingent assets for the release of risk provisions, revenues generated in the current 
year but accruing in previous years. These revenues were allocated on an accrual basis over a duration equal 
to the depreciation period of the relative specific asset.  

26. Changes in inventories 

Changes in inventories of finished products were positive for Euro 12,701 (negative for Euro 27,153 in 
2021) and refer to the change which occurred since the end of the previous year. 

 
Operational costs 

The item "Operating Costs" was equal to Euro 8,939,837 (Euro 7,399,897 in June 2021). Below is the 
breakdown of costs as of 30 June 2022, compared with the same period of the previous year. 

 

 

Values in euro

30.06.2022 30.06.2021 Change Change %

Revenues from sales and services 9.948.078 6.574.476 3.373.602 51%

Changes due to internal works -                        - 0 0%

Change in inventories 12.701 (27.153) 39.854 (147%)

Other revenues and proceeds 972.995 641.044 331.951 52%

              Total 10.933.774 7.188.367 3.745.407 52%

Revenue analysis by geographical area 30.06.2022 30.06.2021 Change Change %

Italy 739.740 954.094 (214.354) (22%)

UE 1.791.374 2.145.247 (353.873) (16%)

Extra UE 7.416.964 3.475.135 3.941.829 113%

              Total 9.948.078 6.574.476 3.373.602 74%

Values in euro

30.06.2022 30.06.2021 Change Change %

Purchasing costs 772.061 424.653 347.408 82%

Service costs 4.552.919 4.354.692 198.227 5%

Personnel costs 2.714.116 2.276.522 437.594 19%

Other operating costs 900.742 344.030 556.712 162%

              Total operating costs 8.939.838 7.399.897 1.539.941 21%
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27. Purchasing costs 

The item "Costs for purchases" was equal to Euro 772,061 (Euro 424,653 in 2021). 

This item consists primarily of the costs for the purchase of components for the wrapping service with the 
residual amount due to travel goods. 

28. Service costs 

The item "Costs for services" was equal to Euro 4,552,919 (Euro 4,354,692 in 2021). 

This item consists primarily of expenses relative to airport services as well as technical, administrative, 
commercial, fiscal and legal consulting services in addition to financial statement audits, rentals and 
maintenance services, third party processing, technical assistance services, marketing/sales 
expenses/services, food and lodging expenses for travelling employees, advertising and promotional 
expenses, transportation services, compensation to Board members and statutory auditors. 

29. Personnel costs 

The item "Costs for personnel" was equal to Euro 2,714,116 (Euro 2,276,522 in 2021). 

The item includes the all expenses for employees. 

30. Other operating costs 

The item "Other operating costs" was equal to Euro 900,742 (Euro 344,030 in 2021). 

The item includes costs for taxes, duties and penalties for late payments and contingent liabilities which are 
primarily ascribable to costs incurred by the Russian, Greek and Estonian subsidiaries. 

31.  Allocations for risks 

The item "Allocations for risks" was positive and equal to Euro 450,261 (Euro 20,294 in 2021). The 2022 
release refers to, in particular, the provisions for risks relative to the French subsidiary mentioned above. 

32. Revaluations / Write-downs 

The amount of 2022 refers to the write-down of receivables applied at the level of the French subsidiary. 
No write-downs were applied in 2021.  

33. Financial proceeds and charges 

The item "Financial proceeds and charges” was positive and equal to Euro 176,171 (negative and equal to 
Euro 77,052 in 2021). 

 

The item is as composed as follows: 

 

 

The item Financial expenses primarily includes interest on bank loans, foreign exchange losses, and payable 
interest on bank accounts. 

Values in euro

30.06.2022 30.06.2021 Change Change %

Financial proceeds 450.261 88.347 361.914 410%

Chargers proceeds (274.090) (165.398) (108.692) 66%

              Total 176.171 (77.051) 253.222 (329%)
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34. Taxes 

Current taxes have been ascertained on the basis of current regulations for each country. In the case of the 
parent company, the IRES rate applied in the year 2021 was equal to 24%, while the IRAP rate was applied 
on the basis of the regional rate.  

 

 

 

Deferred taxes have been calculated on the basis of the global allocation criterion while taking into account 
the cumulative amount of all timing differences and on the basis of the expected average rates in effect 
when those timing differences will occur on the basis of the effective interest rate of the last year. 

35. Earnings / (Loss) per share 

The basic profit / (loss) per share is given by the ratio of profit / (loss) ascribable to the Parent Company and 
the average number of ordinary shares in circulation as of 30.06.2022, with the exclusion of treasury shares. 
 

  
 

(*) no effect calculated in relation to the warrants in circulation in 2021 given that - considering the loss of 
the half year in the comparative period - the increase in the number of shares created an anti-diluting effect. 

 

Public Contributions 

During 2021, the parent company Trawell Co S.p.A. received - from Simest S.p.A. - two non-repayable grants: 
the first for an amount equal to Euro 240,000 for the improvement and safeguarding of the financial solidity 

Values in euro

Current taxes 30.06.2022 30.06.2021 Var Var %

Taxes of previous years -                       -               0

IRES Current Taxes -                       -                       -               0%

IRAP Current Taxes -                       -                       -               0

TOTAL CURRENT TAXES -                       -                       -               

Deferred taxes (prepaid)

     Deferred taxes 20.826 11.826 9.000 76%

     Prepaid taxes 248 57.724 (57.476) (100%)

TOTAL DEFERRED TAXES (PREPAID) 21.074 69.550 (48.476) (70%)

TOTAL TAXES 21.074 69.550 (48.476) (70%)

UE taxes (5.405) -                       (5.405) -               

Extra UE taxes (317.991) (69.468) (248.523) 358%

TOTAL TAXES OF THE GROUP (302.322) 82 (302.404) (368.785%)

30.06.2022 30.06.2021

Consolidated net result 485.705 (737.232)

Number of ordinary shares net of treasury shares 2.479.900 2.479.900

Basic earnings (loss) per share 0,20 (0,30)

Number of shares for the determination of 

diluted earnings per share (*)
6.199.750 2.479.900

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0,08 (0,30)
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of exporting companies, as provided for by the "Relaunch" Decree of 19 May 2020; the second for an 
amount equal to Euro 125,500 - of which Euro 90,000  received in 2021 and Euro 35,500 received in June 
2022 - for the development of e-commerce in foreign markets. 
 
 

 
 

Number of employees 

 

The number of employees - expressed in Work Units without considering personnel in extraordinary 
redundancy schemes, subdivided by professional classification as of 30 June 2022 - is reported in the 
following table: 

 

 

 

The subdivision of human resources by country is reported in the table below: 

 

 

 

Within the United States, there is only one employee given that operational activities are conducted by 
external personnel. 

 

Lender Fiscal Code Lender Amount Beneficiary Collection date

Simest S.p.A. 04102891001 240.000 Trawell Co S.p.A. 23/04/2021

Simest S.p.A. 04102891001 90.000 Trawell Co S.p.A. 27/08/2021

Simest S.p.A. 04102891001 35.500 Trawell Co S.p.A. 10/06/2022

SUMMARY 30.06.2022 30.06.2021

EXECUTIVES 2 1% 1 1%

MID-LEVEL MANAGERS 10 4% 6 3%

OFFICE EMPLOYEES 36 16% 47 24%

WORKERS 177 79% 145 73%

TOTAL 224 198

SUMMARY 30.06.2022 30.06.2021

ITALY 30 17

FRANCE 26 29

PORTUGAL 16 4

SWITZERLAND 3 0

USA 1 1

CANADA 13 6

POLAND 0 0

CZECH REP. 2 0

PERU' 4 1

GREECE 15 6

ESTONIA 14 5

RUSSIA 100 128

TOTALE 224 198
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Compensation due to members of company bodies 

The amount of remuneration due to members of company bodies for the first half of 2022 is reported in the 
table below. 

 

 

 

Compensation due to auditing companies 

The amount of remuneration due to the auditing company for auditing of the 2022 half-year financial 
statements is reported in the table below. 

 

 

 

Information on transactions with related parties  

Transactions with related parties primarily refer to the exchange of assets, the supply of services, funding 
and the use of financial resources with subsidiaries and other Group companies; they fall within the normal 
business operations of the Group companies and were stipulated at normal market conditions. These 
transactions are governed by specific service contracts. For the purposes of identifying and reporting related 
parties, reference is hereby made to the definition of "related party" provided in international accounting 
standard IAS 24. Although these transactions are completed at normal market conditions, significant 
transaction amounts with related parties are reported below, subdivided into financial and commercial 
transactions; for more details, refer to what is described in the specific paragraphs of these notes. 

It should be noted that the Parent Company retains a payable deriving from tax consolidation amounting to 
Euro 139,033 as of 30 June 2022 given that the company opted, for the 2020/2022 three-year period, to 
adhere to the IRES tax consolidation led by RG Holding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compensation due to members of 

company bodies of the parent company

parent 

company
subsidiaries

Board of Directors

- remuneration 136.556         -                    

- employee work 87.677           -                    

- consultancies -                  -                    

Board of Statutory Auditors 15.080           -                    

Audirevi Auditing services to parent company

Audirevi Auditing services to subsidiary company 2.000       

Audirevi Auditing services to subsidiary company 1.500       

Totale 11.500                          

Canada

Switzerland

Auditing company Description Country Fees

Italy 8.000                             
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With regard to the companies of the Group, the following should be noted: 

 

- Trawell Co S.p.A. reported the following financial relations: 

 

 

- Safe Bag USA LLC reported the following financial relations: 

 

 

- Safe Wrap of Florida reported the following financial relations: 

 

 

- Wrapping Service LLC reported the following financial relations: 

 

 
- SOS Travel 

 

  

EUR 30.06.22

Company name Trade receivables Trade payables Financial receivables Financial l iabilities Income Costs

LUBA 11.284

RG Holding S.r.l. 1.250 49.508 8.069 147.102 120.495

EUR 30.06.22

Company name Trade receivables Trade payables Financial receivables Financial l iabilities Income Costs

Marchin Investment 334.924 6.825

Rudolph Gentile 14.441 58.234

Trawell Co 66.609 836.055 191.972

EUR 30.06.22

Company name Trade receivables Trade payables Financial receivables Financial l iabilities Income Costs

Homyn Entrerpise Corp 1.381 239.989

Secure Wrap of Miami Inc. 2.979 883.762

EUR 30.06.22

Company name Trade receivables Trade payables Financial receivables Financial l iabilities Income Costs

FLY PACK LLC 0 400.990 0 0 14.914 20.098

AERO SERVICE LLC 297.433 0 0 0 0 0

BAGAGE SERVICE LLC 3.249 0 0 0 1.765 0

PACK AND FLY LLC 238.515 0 0 0 10.415 2.646

PACK AND FLY OOO 621.273 0 0 0 20.499 76.053

SKY SERVICE LLC 514.790 0 0 0 1.372 19.088

FEDOSEEV ALEXANDER MIKHAILOVICH 0 0 471.390 476.158 0 0

VOLOTSKOV VYACHESLAV ANATOLIEVICH 0 0 166.746 0 0 0

EUR 30.06.22

Company name Trade receivables Trade payables Financial receivables Financial l iabilities Income Costs

TRAWELL CO 24.107 56.102 57.473 57.618

FSB SERVICE SARL 172.869 43.319

LCC "Upakovka SERVICE" 0

FLYSAFEB UNIPESSOAL LDA 88.894 66.185

Safe Bag Czech Republic 791 791

SAFE BAG CANADA INC. 72.042 60.261

CARE4BAG S.A. 2.465 10.845

SAFE BAG SAGL 10.377 10.377

RG HOLDING 527 13.557 36.556
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3. Report of the Auditing Company on the Consolidated financial 
statements 
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